
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

BEVERLY STEWART, )
Special Administrator ) 
of the Estate of )
Susan Leslie Stuckey, )

) Case No. 12-2185
Plaintiff, )

)
vs. )

)
CITY OF PRAIRIE VILLAGE, ) 
KANSAS )

)
WES E. LOVETT, )
in his individual capacity; )

)
TIM SCHWARTZKOPF, )
in his individual capacity, )

)
BYRON ROBERSON, )
in his individual capacity; )

)
SETH MEYER, )
in his individual capacity; )

)
JOHN OLSON, )
in his individual capacity; )

)
DAN STEWART, )
in his individual capacity; )

)
BENJAMIN MICHEEL, )
in his individual capacity )

)
ADAM TAYLOR, )
in his individual capacity; )

)
Defendants. )
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 FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
(Violation of Civil Rights Under United States Constitution)

Plaintiff Beverly Stewart, Special Administrator of the Estate of Susan Leslie

Stuckey, brings the present civil rights case and demands a jury trial on all claims stated

in this Amended Complaint.  For her causes of action against the Defendants City of

Prairie Village, Wes Lovett, Tim Schwartzkopf, Byron Roberson, Seth Meyer, John

Olson, Dan Stewart, Benjamin Micheel, and Adam Taylor, Plaintiff states as follows:

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT AND INTRODUCTION 

1.  Susan L. Stuckey was shot to death in her own apartment by the Prairie Village

police during a hastily planned and recklessly executed tactical operation.   Garbed in 

bulletproof vests and riot helmets,  tactical team officers rammed Ms. Stuckey’s door and

forced their way into her apartment, provoking an unnecessary confrontation with

Stuckey, who was threatening suicide.   Beverly Stewart, the mother of Susan Stuckey

and the Special Administrator of her estate, seeks damages for the violation of Ms.

Stuckey’s civil rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments, based on the illegal,

warrantless entry of Ms. Stuckey’s apartment, the use of excessive force, and the deficient

policies and training that caused officers to create their own “jeopardy” and which led

directly to the fatal shooting of Susan Stuckey. 

2.  On the morning of March 31, 2010, Ms. Stuckey was alone in her apartment at

4103 W. 93  Terrace, Apartment 212, Prairie Village, Kansas.  Ms. Stuckey sufferedrd

from disabling mental health problems, including severe depression, anxiety and post-
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traumatic stress disorder.  In recent weeks, her mental state had greatly deteriorated and

her behavior had grown more erratic.   Ms. Stuckey made several 911 calls to the

Overland Park, Kansas and Leawood, Kansas Police Departments demanding that the

police bring her cigarettes and stating that the police should be armed because she was

going to commit “suicide by cop.”  Dispatchers of the respective police departments

conveyed the content of the calls to a Prairie Village, Kansas police dispatcher, who sent

officers to Ms. Stuckey’s apartment.

3.  Various members of the Prairie Village Police Department and the Johnson

County Mental Health Center had conducted welfare checks on Ms. Stuckey earlier in the

month.  Ms. Stuckey’s mental health problems were well known to the Prairie Village

Police Department.

4.  Ms. Stuckey would not allow the officers to enter her apartment and would only

communicate with them by yelling through the front door to her apartment.  Distraught

and agitated, she threw plates, barricaded her front door and repeatedly said she would

kill herself.  The Prairie Village Critical Incident Response Team (CIRT) – under the

direction of team leader Byron Roberson and CIRT commander Wes Lovett – was sent to

the apartment.   Patrol officers and CIRT team members – a total of 17 or more officers – 

surrounded Ms. Stuckey’s building.  Snipers were positioned in a nearby apartment and

on a garage roof, enabling them to see into the apartment.  Team members were clothed

in riot gear, including camouflage uniforms, bullet resistant “heavy vests” and protective
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helmets.

5.  Within minutes of the CIRT team’s arrival, Captain Lovett ordered the CIRT

team to enter Ms. Stuckey’s apartment – without a warrant –  and forcibly remove her so

that she could be taken to the University of Kansas Medical Center and involuntarily

committed to a psychiatric ward.  The team used a battering ram to knock down the front

door, and Sergeant Roberson – wearing body armor and a helmet – entered the apartment. 

When Ms. Stuckey purportedly swung a baseball bat, Sergeant Roberson and another

team member, Officer Olson,  quickly disarmed her.  Ms. Stuckey then grabbed a

broomstick, and, again, they quickly disarmed her.  Instead of taking her into custody at

that point,  Roberson and Taylor fired their Tasers unsuccessfully at Ms. Stuckey.  

Taylor’s Taser darts never connected, as he had fired “blindly” around a corner.    By

Roberson’s later account, Ms. Stuckey threatened to throw a knife at him.    As she

retreated into her living room, Roberson advanced and shot her with his gun three times. 

One of the bullets entered her back.  Ms. Stuckey died at the scene.

6.  Numerous other officers were in the apartment hallway or foyer when the

shooting occurred.  They took no steps to stop Roberson from entering in an unsafe

manner that was contrary to both the team’s tactical plan and its standard operating

procedures, nor did the officers offer proper assistance to Roberson or attempt to use less

than lethal means to place Ms. Stuckey under their control.  Officers expressly declined a

mental health professional’s offer of assistance and never contacted Ms. Stuckey’s mother
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or any member of Ms. Stuckey’s family for assistance.

7.  Plaintiff Beverly Stewart, as Special Administrator of Ms. Stuckey’s estate,

seeks damages for Defendants’ reckless, wanton, and intentional actions that began with

their unlawful entry into Ms. Stuckey’s apartment and then escalated into an unnecessary

confrontation that led directly to Ms. Stuckey’s violent death. 

JURISDICTION

8.  Jurisdiction is conferred by 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 1343, which provide for

original jurisdiction of this Court in suits based respectively on federal questions and

authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, to redress the deprivation under color of state law,

statute, ordinance, regulation, custom or usage of any right, privilege, or immunity

secured by the Constitution of the United States or by any act of Congress providing for

equal rights of citizens or of all persons within the jurisdiction of the United States.

9.  Plaintiff’s actions for damages are authorized by:

  a.  42 U.S.C. § 1983, which provides for redress for the deprivation under color

of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom or usage of any state or territory of any

rights, privileges or immunities secured to all the citizens or persons within the

jurisdiction of the United States;

b.  the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution; and

c.  42 U.S.C. § 1988, which authorizes Plaintiff’s application for attorneys’ fees

and provides that a court may award a reasonable attorneys’ fee as part of costs in any
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action or proceeding to enforce a provision of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

10.  Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas

under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a)(2), as the events or omissions giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims

occurred in Prairie Village, Johnson County, Kansas.

THE PARTIES

11.  Plaintiff Beverly Stewart is presently, and was at all times relevant to this

Complaint, a citizen of Overland Park, Johnson County, Kansas.  She is the natural

mother of Susan Stuckey and a Special Administrator of the Estate of Susan Stuckey.

12.  Defendant City of Prairie Village, Kansas, was created by, and established

under, the laws of the State of Kansas.  It is authorized to sue or be sued in its corporate

name.  

13.  Defendants Lovett, Schwartzkopf, Roberson, Meyer, Olson, Stewart, Micheel,

and Taylor, at all times relevant to the conduct alleged in this Complaint, were sworn law

enforcement officers with the Prairie Village, Kansas Police Department.  They are sued

in their individual capacities.  

14.  Police Chief Wesley Jordan is the final policymaker for the Prairie Village

Police Department.    

15.  All of the Defendants, at all times material to this Complaint, acted under

color of state law.
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND

16.  For several years, Susan L. Stuckey had lived in the Kenilworth Apartments at

4103 W. 93  Terrace,  Prairie Village, Kansas.  She suffered from disabling mentalrd

illness, including severe depression, anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder.  Her

mental illness was largely a result of recurrent sexual abuse she suffered during

childhood, which she had kept secret and had only recently begun to address with her

therapist.   Unable to work because of her extreme anxiety and depression, Ms. Stuckey 

received Social Security disability.  

17.  During March of 2010, Ms. Stuckey’s behavior became more erratic and her

mental problems were much more obvious. At the time of the shooting, Ms. Stuckey was

temporarily occupying Kenilworth’s “corporate suite” while her apartment was being

cleaned following an accidental cooking fire that caused soot and smoke damage.   

When Ms. Stuckey did not vacate the corporate suite by the date specified, Kenilworth

began eviction proceedings.  Fearful of being forced to leave her apartment,  Ms. Stuckey

became distraught as she anticipated a court hearing scheduled in the eviction case for

April 1, 2010. 

18.  As her mental health deteriorated, Ms. Stuckey made frequent calls to the

Prairie Village Police Department.  Police officers and employees of the Johnson County

Mental Health Center made several welfare checks on Ms. Stuckey.  The police were

aware of Ms. Stuckey’s mental health problems; indeed, she had told one of them about
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her psychiatric diagnoses, including her PTSD.   The police were also aware of the

upcoming eviction hearing.  

19.  On the morning of March 31, 2010, Ms. Stuckey was agitated and distraught. 

She made several 911 calls, stating that she wanted the police to kill her, that she would

give them a reason to kill her, and that she would commit “suicide by cop.”  

20.  Starting at 7 a.m., Prairie Village patrol officers started arriving at Ms.

Stuckey’s apartment. The first commander to arrive was Tim Schwartzkopf, at

approximately 7:30 a.m.; Wes Lovett arrived shortly thereafter and assumed tactical

command.  Initially, officer Brian Dennis began communicating with Ms. Stuckey, and

she told him and Ben Micheel that they were “going to have to kill” her and that anyone

who came through the door was going to have to “deal with” her baseball bat.  

21.  Officers knew that Ms. Stuckey was in the midst of an acute mental health

crisis.  The assistant manager at the apartment complex had told Lovett the previous

evening – when police had also been called to the apartment because Ms. Stuckey had

thrown an ironing board out her window and was waving a baseball bat at passersby –

that she believed Ms. Stuckey was “off her medications.”  The police notified the Johnson

County Mental Health Center that they planned to remove Ms. Stuckey from her

apartment so they could get her committed for treatment.   Even though the police knew

of the severity of  Ms. Stuckey’s crisis, they declined the assistance of a counselor when a

mental health staffer offered to send one to Ms. Stuckey’s apartment.  An officer told the
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staffer that such assistance was not necessary at that time.   The staff member said he

would have a counselor available if needed.  Later, Defendant Lovett would claim that

Johnson County Mental Health Center did not have the resources to help Ms. Stuckey and

that the center’s legal counsel had directed the staff not to go to her apartment.                 

22.  Officer Adam Taylor arrived on the scene between 7:00 and 7:30 a.m.  Taylor

had been selected to attend a future negotiations school, but at that point, was completely

untrained in negotiations and had never conducted any type of negotiations.  Despite his

lack of experience and despite the fact there were two trained negotiators at the scene,

including shift supervisor Jason Kuder, Taylor -- in violation of the Department’s policy – 

was assigned to engage in negotiations with Ms. Stuckey.  Shortly after he arrived, Taylor 

replaced Officer Dennis and communicated with Ms. Stuckey through the closed door to

her apartment.

23.  Taylor’s communications with Ms. Stuckey were recorded through a mobile

patrol car microphone.  Although Taylor claimed that Ms. Stuckey had threatened to set

the apartment on fire, no such indication of that threat can be heard during the entire two

hours of recorded conversation.  Although Lovett had been telling CIRT team leader

Roberson since early in the morning that Stuckey had threatened to set a fire and that

Roberson needed to get his team to the scene right away, there is no evidence of such a

threat, either in Ms. Stuckey’s 911 calls or during the conversation with Taylor.  Although

the alleged fire threat had been used to spur the CIRT team into action, Taylor later said
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the threat did not come until toward the very end of his two hours of communication with

Ms. Stuckey.  When she supposedly made the threat, Taylor said he told Stuckey – whose

words were sometimes inaudible on the tape – that “she didn’t need to do that.”    No such

phrase or anything similar, however, appears on the tape.  At no time was there any

response from Taylor to Ms. Stuckey that would indicate she had made any threat to start

a fire.  Rather, it appears that the genesis of the so-called “fire threat” is rooted in

speculation arising from the accidental fire three weeks earlier at Ms. Stuckey’s prior

apartment when she left a pot on the stove too long.  That “fire” caused only soot and

smoke damage, and the repairs were being covered through Ms. Stuckey’s insurance.

24.  Although the fire “threat” was used to spur Roberson and the CIRT team to

rush to the scene, the actions of the commanders and others at the scene indicate no one

truly viewed a fire as a real or imminent threat. Although Med-Act and a fire truck were

at the scene on standby, such a response is standard during a critical incident.    No officer

or supervisor took steps to ensure a complete evacuation, and only the residents in the

apartments closest to Ms. Stuckey were directed to leave while police handled the

situation. 

25.  Despite the limited attention to alleged safety concerns about other residents,

Lovett would later claim that the threat posed by fire to an unnamed “90 year old woman”

in a basement apartment was one of the reasons he felt the situation was urgent and the

CIRT team had to take immediate action.   Lovett claimed that he had been told by an
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unidentified male driving by in a red car that his mother lived in one of the apartments –

Lovett said he never asked which one – and that she had a medical condition that made it

difficult to move her.  Even though Lovett did not know what apartment this alleged

elderly woman lived in, and did not know her name or the nature of her condition, Lovett

later claimed that the danger of fire posed to her and others was the reason he could not

take the time to obtain a warrant to enter Ms. Stuckey’s apartment.  Despite the claimed

risk to the elderly woman, however, Lovett said that he conversed with her “son” for only

“15 seconds” or “30 seconds” and never documented that information.  Lovett later

admitted that, in the event of a fire, he would have had no idea where to locate the elderly

woman.   Shooting team investigators who later conducted a neighborhood canvas

discovered that there was indeed a 90-year-old woman who had lived in an apartment

directly below Ms. Stuckey’s, but that when police arrived, she followed their directions

and went to a friend’s apartment nearby.     

26.  Neither Lovett nor Schwartzkopf gave specific attention to the issue of

evacuation.  Rather, the alleged threat to the residents – including the unknown, unnamed

90-year-old woman – appears to have been used primarily as a justification for calling out

the CIRT team and making a warrantless entry.  Indeed, police acknowledged that so-

called “exigent circumstances” supplied their only basis for entering without a warrant, as

they had no probable cause to arrest Ms. Stuckey and no other justification for entering

her apartment. 
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27.   Captain Tim Schwartzkopf, who had arrived at the scene even before Lovett, 

contacted Police Chief Wes Jordan, briefed Jordan about the unfolding events, and

informed him of Lovett’s purported concerns.   Schwartzkopf obtained Jordan’s approval

to enter the apartment.  Significantly, Jordan also used the cooking incident three weeks

earlier to justify entry, reminding Schwartzkopf of the previous “fire” in Ms. Stuckey’s

apartment. 

28.   The “fire threat” was merely a pretext used to attempt to justify a warrantless

entry.  In an effort to bolster the “threat,” police later claimed that the liquid which one of

the snipers saw Ms. Stuckey pouring on the floor was thought to be a potential

“accelerant.”  However, this claim is belied by recorded radio communications which

show that the sniper told CIRT team members that Ms. Stuckey was pouring from “a

bottle of liquid detergent” which would make the floor slippery.  Even more telling was

the fact that the tactical plan called for the use of Tasers – a weapon whose instructions

explicitly warn it is never to be used in the presence of flammable substances.  

29.  Throughout the morning, officers maintained a perimeter around the building

and snipers monitored Ms. Stuckey inside her apartment.  Other officers were stationed

inside the apartment building, both on the first and second floor.   Ms. Stuckey told the

officers, and the snipers could see, that she had barricaded her front door.   One officer at

the scene was armed with a beanbag shotgun, and another had a flashbang device. 

However, these options were never used or even considered.   Other less lethal options,
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including OC spray and chemical munitions, were also available to the officers but were

never used.

30.   Captan Lovett made the decision that the CIRT team would forcibly enter Ms.

Stuckey’s apartment.   At Lovett’s direction, Sergeant Roberson, the CIRT team leader, 

devised a tactical plan.  Because of haste, however, the plan was incomplete and CIRT

members had insufficient information about Ms. Stuckey and the layout of her apartment. 

Officers were armed with guns; the only “less lethal” weapon included in the plan was a

Taser, a brand new weapon to the police department that none of the officers had

previously fired in the field.     The plan called for two separate entry teams, with one

team attempting entry at Ms. Stuckey’s door and the other, a back-up team, prepared to

enter through the sliding glass door on Ms. Stuckey’s balcony.  CIRT Team 1 was

comprised of Defendants Roberson, Olson, Stewart, and Meyer.  The second CIRT team

also had four members. 

31.  Lovett was pushing for entry and wanted officers to enter Ms. Stuckey’s

apartment even before Defendant Roberson and the CIRT team arrived.   Despite the

presence of two trained negotiators at the scene, Taylor was permitted to continue in the

role of negotiator throughout the morning.   Taylor was unable to establish any rapport

with Ms. Stuckey, who responded to Taylor’s efforts with anger and continued to bang

the inside of her door with a baseball bat.   Instead of switching to a trained negotiator,

Lovett termed the negotiations a failure and declared the CIRT team would move ahead
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with forcible entry.  

32.  Although Defendant Lovett was Roberson’s superior officer, Defendant

Roberson knew that Lovett had little tactical experience and was untrained in tactical

command.  Roberson told Lovett to wait until he and his entire team arrived at the

apartment complex.   Before he arrived, Defendant Roberson contacted an officer on the

scene and directed him to attempt to calm Lovett and make him slow down.  Roberson

stated that if Ms. Stuckey was going to harm herself or burn the building down, as Lovett

said he feared, she would have done it already.

33.   Under pressure, Roberson hastily devised a tactical plan.  The plan did not

include any provision for the use of any methods – further negotiation, the use of

chemical munitions – other than forcible entry and removal, even though the CIRT

standard operating procedures state that other options should be exhausted before

attempting tactical entry.   Lovett and Schwartzkopf approved the plan, even though, as

they later claimed, they had little knowledge of the details.  Indeed, Captain Lovett stated

he was not “privy” to the specifics of the plan.  

34.  The Prairie Village Police Department’s standard operating procedures for the

CIRT team  provide that negotiations are the main tactic to employ in barricade situations. 

Other options include the “creation of an uncomfortable interior environment by use of

chemical munitions to influence the suspect to come out of his/her stronghold” and

tactical entry.  The policy provides that “[t]actical entry may be used if all other means of
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persuasion are exhausted or fail.”  No apparent effort was made to comply with the policy

or exhaust other means before forcible entry.   

35.  Within ten minutes of the CIRT team’s arrival at the apartment complex,

Lovett ordered the team to begin entry.  He made this decision even though there was no

change in circumstances and no “triggering event” that would have prompted immediate

action. 

36.  Ms. Stuckey had previously told Taylor that she wanted to talk to her mother

and her brothers.  She gave Taylor her mother’s name and telephone number.  Taylor

passed this information on to another officer, but no one made any effort to contact Ms.

Stuckey’s mother, either to obtain more information about Ms. Stuckey’s condition or to

see if somehow the mother might be able to provide some assistance.   Instead, Taylor

told Stuckey that police could not get a hold of her mother.    Ms. Stuckey’s mother,

Beverly Stewart, was at home the morning of March 31, 2010. She did not receive a

phone call from the police.  Had Ms. Stewart been contacted, she immediately would

have gone to Ms. Stuckey’s apartment and tried to assist.

37.  Although the police did not have a warrant, Lovett declared they could not

wait.  Although he and Schwartzkopf were making decisions together, they did not take

time to properly review the tactical plan with Roberson and his team.   Lovett pushed

ahead, ordering Taylor to inform Ms. Stuckey that she had two minutes to exit her

apartment or the police were going to remove her.  Although Ms. Stuckey had calmed
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down in the previous half hour and had just been “moseying around” her apartment

according to one of the snipers, she immediately bolted to the area near the door when

Taylor gave her the two-minute warning.  

38.  The officers knew that Ms. Stuckey had a baseball bat.  They heard her

banging the bat against her front door and expected her to be near the door when they

entered.  They also knew that Ms. Stuckey had been building some type of barricade

behind the door, but they inexplicably did not take this into account and had no plan for

removing any barricade.

39.  At approximately 9:40 a.m.,  Roberson, Olson, Stewart, Meyer, Taylor and

Micheel positioned themselves outside Ms. Stuckey’s front door in the hallway.  Officer

Meyer breached the door using a battering ram, but, inexplicably, failed to move the door

out of the way. Because of the debris and items stacked behind the door, the door did not

fall to the ground and instead teetered on the back of a chair.  Roberson and his team

members failed to remove the door.  Roberson scaled the door and entered the apartment

alone.  This was completely contrary to the tactical plan, which called for the entire team

to enter as a team and for Roberson, as the team leader, to be at the back of the “stack”

where he could watch and direct the other team members. The plan also called for Olson

to enter first, protected by a ballistic shield, and to pin Ms. Stuckey against a wall with the

shield.  Because Olson could not scale the unstable door with the shield, he left it on the

floor in the hallway, leaving him and his team in an unprotected tactical position.   Both
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Roberson and Olson completely departed from the tactical plan, and, in so doing, entered

the apartment in an unsafe manner and provoked a confrontation with Ms. Stuckey. 

40.   As other team members remained in the hallway, Roberson entered the

cluttered foyer, and Olson tried to jam his way in behind Roberson.  As they entered, they

saw Ms. Stuckey swinging a baseball bat.  Roberson and Olson quickly disarmed her of

the bat.  Ms. Stuckey then grabbed a broomstick and they quickly took that away from her

as well.  Instead of taking Ms. Stuckey into custody at that point,  Roberson then fired his

Taser twice at Ms. Stuckey.  The darts struck Ms. Stuckey’s shirt, but failed to make

contact with her skin and were ineffective.  Officer Taylor then fired his Taser once,

firing “blindly” around the corner toward where he thought Ms. Stuckey was located. 

The darts missed her entirely.  

41.   As Ms. Stuckey retreated into her living room, Roberson advanced. Contrary

to the plan, he advanced alone and confronted Ms. Stuckey.  According to Roberson, Ms.

Stuckey grabbed a knife and held it as if she were going to throw it at him.

42.  An audio recording from a patrol unit at the scene indicates that Roberson told

Stuckey, “don’t pick up that knife.”   Almost immediately after saying those words,

Roberson fired three shots.   According to Roberson, Stuckey threw a knife and it

bounced off of his body armor and fell to the floor. 

43.  All three shots struck Ms. Stuckey.  Crime scene reports indicate that bullet

impacts were observed in the north living room wall, through the open door of the
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bedroom, and on the refrigerator in the kitchen.  The trajectories of the bullets and the

blood spatter found on the north and east living room walls show that Roberson and

Stuckey were in the living room when Roberson shot and killed Ms. Stuckey.    

44 .  Ms. Stuckey died at the scene.  An autopsy showed that Ms. Stuckey was shot

in the neck, her right forearm, and her back.  There was no stippling or soot around the

wounds, indicating that the shots were fired from a “distant range.”  Ms. Stuckey had

contusions on her thorax, abdomen, arms, and legs.  Four taser probes were removed from

her shirt.  They had not pierced her skin.

45. The Officer Involved Shooting Investigation Team (OISIT) investigated the

shooting.  Johnson County, Kansas District Attorney Stephen Howe cleared Defendant

Roberson of criminal wrongdoing.  The OISIT investigation did not address whether

Defendants made operational errors in forcibly entering Ms. Stuckey’s apartment or

whether Defendants were adequately trained and supervised.  After the shooting, Prairie

Village did not discipline any officer or provide any remedial training.  Instead,

Defendant Roberson received two valor awards.  

46.  The actions of all Defendants grossly violated widely accepted law

enforcement standards on crisis intervention and the use of force.  Defendants, knowing

that Ms. Stuckey was mentally ill and in crisis, failed to use a trained negotiator or trained

mental health professional to communicate with Ms. Stuckey, failed to use chemical

munitions or other less lethal means, and needlessly escalated the situation by setting a
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two-minute time limit and by forcibly entering Ms. Stuckey’s apartment when there was

no “triggering event” and no exigent circumstances.  All of these factors, along with the

decision of Roberson to enter alone –  contrary to nationally recognized tactical standards

and his own tactical plan –  gave rise to “officer-created jeopardy,” meaning that police

themselves created the dangerous circumstances that purportedly placed them in jeopardy

and which allegedly caused them to feel threatened and use force.      

47.  The Defendants’ grossly mismanaged and reckless attempt at crisis

intervention and the use of excessive force reflect a failure to properly train, guide, and

supervise the police department’s officers.  Chief Wes Jordan is the final policymaker for

the department and is responsible for the failure to properly train, guide, and supervise his

officers.  His commanders, Lovett and Schwartzkopf, are responsible for their direct role,

under Jordan’s command, in supervising and approving the reckless actions of their

subordinates.

48.  All Defendants knew or should have known that their conduct violated clearly

established statutory or constitutional rights.  All Defendants acted at all times under the

color of state law.

49.  As a result of Defendants’ wrongful actions, Ms. Stuckey suffered extreme

terror, severe pain, emotional trauma, and death under violent and tragic circumstances.

Count I

Claim Against Lovett, Roberson, Meyer, Olson, Stewart, Micheel and Taylor
for the Unconstitutional Use of Excessive Force 
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in Violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments and 42 U.S.C § 1983

Plaintiff Stewart realleges the foregoing and further states as follows:

50.  Defendant Roberson, acting under color of state law, intentionally and/or

recklessly shot and killed Ms. Stuckey.  The force employed was objectively

unreasonable.  Roberson had disarmed Ms. Stuckey and she was retreating into her living

room where Roberson shot her three times, including once in the back.

51.  Further, the actions of Roberson and all Defendants  created the very situation

which allegedly placed Roberson in jeopardy.  Indeed, the actions of all  Defendants

grossly violated widely accepted law enforcement standards on crisis intervention and the

use of force.  Defendants, knowing that Ms. Stuckey was mentally ill and in crisis, failed

to use a trained negotiator or trained mental health professional to communicate with Ms.

Stuckey, failed to use chemical munitions or other less lethal means, and needlessly

escalated the situation by setting a two-minute time limit and by forcibly entering Ms.

Stuckey’s apartment when there was no “triggering event” and no exigent circumstances. 

All of these factors, along with the decision of Roberson to enter alone –  contrary to

nationally recognized tactical standards and his own tactical plan –  gave rise to “officer-

created jeopardy,” meaning that police themselves created the dangerous circumstances

that purportedly placed them in jeopardy and which allegedly caused them to feel

threatened and use force.      

52.  Defendants proceeded according to a hastily scripted tactical plan that was
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substandard in many respects, and then did not even follow that plan.  They also violated

numerous widely accepted standards for tactical police operations. 

53.  Moreover, Defendants Lovett, Meyer, Olson, Stewart, Taylor, and Micheel

observed and had reason to know Roberson was using excessive force and/or that he was

acting in a manner that would give rise to a use of excessive force, in violation of Ms.

Stuckey’s rights under the Fourth Amendment.   

54.  All of the officers participated in escalating the situation and in unlawfully

entering Ms. Stuckey’s apartment without a warrant and in the absence of exigent

circumstances.  They used a battering ram to knock down Stuckey’s door, then botched

the entry by failing to remove the door and other debris, leaving Roberson – with Olson

close behind – forcing his way into the apartment and provoking an unnecessary and

violent confrontation with a distraught, anxious, and mentally ill woman. 

55.  All of the officers had an affirmative duty to intervene to prevent the

circumstances that gave rise to “officer-created jeopardy” and to prevent the use of

excessive force. 

56.  The harm to Ms. Stuckey was preventable and her death was avoidable.  The

defendants had a realistic opportunity to intervene in the chain of events and prevent the

harm from occurring. 

57.  Defendants failed to intervene and protect Ms. Stuckey from the unnecessary

escalation of the situation, including the unnecessary warrantless entry and resulting use
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of force. 

58.  The actions of all Defendants, acting individually and/or in concert, were

wanton and malicious and subjected Ms. Stuckey to an unreasonable seizure in violation

of her rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the

United States.  Defendants’ actions deprived Ms. Stuckey of her life, in violation of her

substantive right to life under the Due Process Clause of the  Fourteenth Amendment.    

59.  The actions of the Defendants proximately and directly caused Ms. Stuckey’s

injuries and death.

60.  At all times relevant to this Complaint, Defendants were employees of the City

of Prairie Village.  Defendants Schwartzkopf, Lovett, Roberson, Olson, Stewart, Meyer,

Taylor, and Micheel acted under the supervision of Wes Jordan, final policymaker for the

City of Prairie Village. 

61.  Chief Jordan improperly and recklessly supervised his officers, resulting in the

death of Ms. Stuckey.  In fact, he recklessly and needlessly escalated the situation and

failed to provide proper leadership and supervision consistent with the police

department’s policies and nationally recognized law enforcement standards.  Defendant

Jordan failed to provide Defendants with adequate training and supervision, directly

resulting in Ms. Stuckey’s injuries and death.

62.  Defendants’ actions throughout the incident were not only reckless, but were

also wanton and malicious, thus justifying an award of punitive damages.  

22

Case 2:12-cv-02185-JAR   Document 150   Filed 07/07/13   Page 22 of 29



Count II

Monell Claim Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Against 
Defendant City of Prairie Village

Plaintiff Stewart realleges the foregoing and further states as follows:

63.  Police Chief Jordan is the final policymaker for the Prairie Village Police

Department and, thus, for the City of Prairie Village in matters delegated or entrusted to

him.

64.  Both before and at the time of the events alleged in this Complaint, the Prairie

Village Police Department had policies, practices, customs and procedures which

operated to deprive Ms. Stuckey of her constitutional rights under the Fourth and

Fourteenth Amendments.

65.  Police Chief Jordan and the City of Prairie Village are accountable under 42

U.S.C. § 1983 because they established policies and practices that were intended to and

did encourage, endorse, and permit their agents and employees to violate the

constitutional rights of Ms. Stuckey and other similarly situated persons.  At a minimum,

Chief Jordan and the City of Prairie Village were deliberately and/or recklessly

indifferent to such constitutional violations.

66.  The unconstitutional policies, practices, customs and procedures of Chief

Jordan and the City of Prairie Village include, but are not limited to:

a.  A policy, practice, custom or procedure of failing to properly train and

supervise officers to avoid the inappropriate and excessive use of force;
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b.  A policy, practice, custom or procedure of failing to adequately train and

supervise officers in the techniques of properly responding to critical incidents involving

suicidal and mentally ill persons; 

c.  The practice of using deadly force without regard to the need for the use of such

force;

d.  A policy on the use of deadly force that fails to provide adequate guidance to

officers;

e.  A practice or custom of not investigating whether an officer’s use of force is

justified;

f.  A practice or custom of not investigating whether CIRT  operation plans comply

with reasonable police standards;

g.  A practice or custom of being deliberately indifferent to constitutional

violations committed by law enforcement officers; and

h.  A practice or custom of not following the police department’s written policies

on the use of force and CIRT team operations.

67.  Chief Jordan and the City of Prairie Village established, maintained, and used

the policies, practices, customs, and procedures described above before and during the

forcible entry into Ms. Stuckey’s apartment and during the shooting and killing of Ms.

Stuckey.

68.  These policies, practices, customs, and procedures, as described above, were
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implemented intentionally and/or recklessly to deprive citizens, including Ms. Stuckey, of

their constitutional rights and were a direct and proximate cause of the constitutional

violations and injuries set forth in this Complaint.

69.  The constitutional violations committed by Defendants arose from

circumstances constituting a usual and recurring situation.

70.  Chief Jordan’s and the City of Prairie Village’s inadequate training and

supervision of their police officers directly caused the violations of Ms. Stuckey’s

constitutional rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments.

71.  Chief Jordan’s and the City of Prairie Village’s custom and practice of failing

to enforce what policies did exist to protect Ms. Stuckey, and other citizens like her, was

also a direct and proximate cause of the constitutional violations and injuries set forth in

this Amended Complaint.

Count III

Claim Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Against Defendants Lovett and Schwartzkopf, Whose
Acts and Omissions as Defendant Roberson’s Supervisors 

Resulted in the Violation of Susan Stuckey’s Constitutional Rights

72.  Defendant Roberson used excessive force in entering Ms. Stuckey’s home and

shooting her three times.  The conduct of the other officers contributed to the excessive

force by their failure to follow departmental policies and accepted police practices and by

their failure to protect Susan Stuckey from grossly unreasonable and excessive force.

73.  Defendants Lovett and Schwartzkopf intentionally and purposefully, through
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their own individual actions, caused the violation of Susan Stuckey’s constitutional right

to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures under the Fourth Amendment and the

violation of her substantive right to life under the Fourteenth Amendment to the

Constitution of the United States.  By approving an operational plan that made no

provision for a mental health professional or less than lethal means of apprehension, and

by failing to ensure that the officers would follow policies and protocol and proceed

according to a sound tactical plan, Defendants recklessly and intentionally instigated

events leading to the use of excessive force and Ms. Stuckey’s death.

74.  As a direct result of Defendant Lovett’s and Schwartzkopf’s  acts and

omissions, Ms. Stuckey suffered damages, including the loss of her life. 

75.  Defendants Lovett, Schwartzkopf, and Jordan acted under color of state law.   

Count IV

Claim Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 Against Lovett, Schwartzkopf, Roberson, Meyer,
Olson, Stewart, Taylor and Micheel for Illegal Entry in Violation of the Fourth

 And Fourteenth Amendments

Plaintiff Stewart realleges the foregoing and further states as follows:

76.  Defendants Lovett, Schwartzkopf, Roberson, Meyer, Olson, Stewart, Taylor,

and Micheel knew they lacked any legal cause to enter Ms. Stuckey’s apartment without a

warrant.  They knew they had no probable cause to arrest her for any crime, and that even

if probable cause existed, they had no exigency or other circumstance justifying
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warrantless entry.

77.  Defendants Lovett, Schwartzkopf, Roberson, Meyer, Olson, Stewart, Micheel,

and Taylor further knew that they had no exigent circumstances concerning public safety

or the safety of other persons to justify an emergency, warrantless entry into Ms.

Stuckey’s apartment.  There was no need to render immediate aid, and no imminent threat

was posed to the public or nearby residents.  The actions of police in failing to ensure a

complete evacuation demonstrated that they did not view the “fire threat” as plausible.  

Police had ample opportunity to obtain a warrant and they failed to do so. 

78.  The failure to obtain a warrant was unreasonable, and the warrantless entry of

Ms. Stuckey’s apartment violated Ms. Stuckey’s rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth

Amendments. 

79.  The actions of Defendants in making a warrantless entry led directly to Ms.

Stuckey’s death under circumstances where she suffered extreme fear, pain, and

suffering.  

80.  Defendants’ actions throughout the incident were not only reckless, but were

also wanton and malicious, thus justifying an award of punitive damages.  

CLAIM FOR DAMAGES

81.  As to Counts I - IV, the wrongful actions of Defendants deprived Ms. Stuckey

of her civil rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments.

82.  As to Counts I - IV, the Estate of Susan L. Stuckey is entitled to compensatory
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damages for the terror, emotional pain and suffering, and physical pain and suffering Ms.

Stuckey suffered before death.  The estate is also entitled to all expenses incurred for

cremation, burial, and memorial services. 

83.  As to Counts I, III, and IV, Defendants’ actions were deliberate, reckless,

wanton, malicious and/or cruel, which justifies an award of punitive damages.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests the following relief:

1.  That this Court assume jurisdiction of this cause to determine this controversy

and set this case for hearing on the merits;

2.  The award of compensatory damages to Plaintiff Stewart as Special

Administrator for the Estate of Susan L. Stuckey for the violation of Ms. Stuckey’s civil

rights in the amount of no less than $2,000,000.

3.  The award of punitive damages against Defendants, jointly and severally, in the

amount of $2,000,000.

4.  That this Court, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988, allow the Plaintiff costs,

expenses and attorneys’ fees, and also grant such alternative relief as may seem to the

Court just, proper, and equitable.

JURY TRIAL DEMAND

Plaintiff demands a jury trial, pursuant to the Seventh Amendment to the

Constitution of the United States, as to all claims for damages.        
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PLACE OF TRIAL

Plaintiff designates Kansas City, Kansas, as the place of trial.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Cheryl A. Pilate
Cheryl A. Pilate, KS Bar #14601
MORGAN PILATE  LLC
926 Cherry Street
Kansas City, MO 64106
Telephone: (816) 471-6694
Facsimile: (816) 472-3516
cpilate@morganpilate.com    

GADDY WEIS, LLC

 /s/ Jeremy S. Weis   
Jeremy S. Weis, KS No. 19958
926 Cherry 
Kansas City, MO 64106
Telephone: (816) 221-8989
Email: jweis@gaddyweis.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, Cheryl A. Pilate, do certify that a true and accurate copy of the foregoing

amended complaint was served via the ECF system on all counsel of record on July 7,
2013. 

/s/ Cheryl A. Pilate
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